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Historic Resources of Stearns County

This Multiple Resource Area Nomination is based on a survey of standing
structures conducted in Stearns County by the Minnesota State Historic
Preservation Office as part of a long-range statewide survey of historic
resources. The properties included in the nomination represent those
which illustrate significant aspects of the history of the county and
which have been deemed eligible for nomination to the National Register
at the conclusion of the survey. Additional information and new perspectives
for evaluation of specific types of historic properties are continually
being gained as the statewide survey progresses, and it is quite possible
that additional Stearns County properties will be nominated in the
future. These may be presented individually or as parts of thematic
groups when the entire survey is completed. TFor this reason, this
Multiple Resource Area Nomination should not be construed as representing
all properties in Stearns County eligible for nomination.

(The above disclaimer is based on an agreement between Charles Herrington,
HCRS, and Russell Fridley, Minnesota SHPO, August 31, 1979)



STEARNS COUNTY

The basis of the survey for this nomination is an inventory of
structures which are indicative of various aspects of the county's
history. Structures were identified and inventoried during a county-
wide survey conducted during the summer of 1980.

Selection of structures for the inventory included both field
reconnaissance of pre-identified sites and isolation of sites on a
purely visual basis. Pre-identification of sites was limited to a
small number of the most significant locations (those unique on a
county wide scale, or significantly linked with some aspect of county
history.) County histories, individual community histories, and
photographs from both the state society and private collections were
researched for site-specific information. General references to
common buildings were not noted.

Survey Method

Township and city maps from the 1896 county atlas were copied for
field use. Plat maps on file in the county recorder's office were
researched for original plat information (proprietors, survey and filing
dates) and for addition dates. The filing dates for the various platted
areas were noted on current highway department city maps. This collection
of maps was useful in gaining a localized sense of development for
areas of the county.

All city streets were walked or driven. All rural non-farm structures,
pre—-identified sites, and locally suggested buildings were visited. The
roads connecting these dispersed sites provided a strong sampling of the
rural landscape. Pre-identified sites were inventoried regardless of
integrity. Other buildings with unusual integrity or unique features
were also inventoried. In general, structures built before 1940 were
considered for an inventory.

Follow-up information (both localized specific and generalized
contextural) on some sites was gathered to help establish significance.

. In each region of the county, at least one and in most cases several
local contacts were made through the county historical society and by
random inquiry. These were most often helpful in locating information on
selected properties, but also in pointing out additional locations for
inventory.

From the inventory of approximately 300 sites, 19 properties were
selected for nomination to the National Register, mostly on the basis
of their significance within the county. Included is one district, a
block-front of commercial buildings, and two thematic sub-groups
including a total of eight properties. Information and photographs on
all sites are recorded on inventory forms for a permanent record.



STEARNS COUNTY

Stearns County is in central Minnesota, bounded on the east by
the Mississippi River. Its northern, western, and southern boundaries
generally follow government survey lines. It is the largest county in
the southern half of the state, with thirty-four full congressional
townships and several fractional ones that cover 1,393 square miles.
The land surface is rolling and hilly.  The western portion of the
county was originally prairie. The eastern two-thirds was oak-maple-
basswood forest. Much timber still remains but clearing for farm land
has greatly reduced the timber acreage. Prairie land has been plowed
for farm use. The one to two foot deep high quality soil
and overall size of Stearns County make it one of the most productlve
agricultural areas in the state. The Mississippi River and its princip
Stearns County tributaries, the Sauk River and Spunk Creek, provided
locations for water power sites. Extensive granite formations in the
eastern half of the county have been quarried for monumental and
architectural stone.

Indian treaties of 1847, the Treaty of Fond dd Lac of Superior, and

1851, Traverse de Sioux and Mendota treaties, opened Stearns County to
Euro-American settlement. The first settlements date from the early
1850s and several towns along the Mississippi River had settlers by -
1854, as did St. Joseph just west of St. Cloud. By 1856, when three
clusters of settlement merged to form St. Cloud, the county population
was 2,840. Settlement spread westward, primarily up the Sauk River
valley. By 1860 the population was 4,505. The western portion of
Stearns County lagged in settlement, due to Indian conflicts in the
early 1860s and a lack of adequate transportation.

German immigrants comprised the dominant ethnic group in Stearns
County's early settlement history. The colonization efforts of Father
Pierz, a Catholic missionary to the Chippewa Indians, began as early as
1852 and immigration after 1854 was rapid. The county saw a steady
influx of German Catholics until after the turn of the century.

Most of the county's early centers of settlement were (and still are)
church centered hamlets. St. John's Abbey was established in 1856,
and St. Benedict's Convent followed in 1857. St. Augusta, St. Joseph,
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STEARNS COUNTY - page 2

and St. Cloud had Catholic parishes in the mid 1850s. Polish and
Slovenian Catholic settlers followed closely after the Germans and
established several centers of ethnic-religious settlement. The
Catholic Church platted several towns, usually after the church /
hamlets were well-established. Yankees settled in the St. Cloud area
and in the southeastern cornmer of the county. Southerners formed a
third St. Cloud group. More Yankee and Scandinavian settlers filled
the southwestern portion of the county after railroads were built in
the area.

y

‘The rail construction of the 1870s and 1880s provided the transporta-

tion link crucial to agricultural development. The rails connected the
existing river site towns and created new towns in the intervening
areas. Steam powered flour mills, grain elevators, and the quarry
industry were tied to rail transportation. Railroad companies platted
the towns of Albany and Avon in the early 1870s, Kimball Prairie,
Belgrade, and Brooten in 1887, and Elrosa as late as 1908. Private
proprietors established other. track side towns. .-Railroad connections
greatly benefited existing towns. St. Cloud's regional dominance is in
large part attributable to the impact of the Great Northern Railroad.
Division point status assuredfemployment potential; converging lines
encouraged industrial growth. The city honored Great Northern president
James J. Hill with a monument and statue.

Settlement patterns that were establsihed early in Stearns County -~

history remain intact and important is the present day pattern.
Agriculture is of overwhelming importance. The sheer size of the county
and soil productivity make Stearns County one of the state's leading
agricultural producers. The pattern of towns is as it was in the late
19th century. River and railside towns are the largest towns.- The
city of St. Cloud, as it has for over a century, adds to its county
seat function as a major regional center with important industrial,
commercial, and educational functions. A noteworthy feature of the
Stearns County settlement pattern is that hamlets continue to exist,
unlike in most of the midwest. The role of religion in the church
centered settlements is strong enough to keep the places alive, despite
the loss of other functions to larger towns.

Stearns County construction materials show typical midwestern
patterns with extensive use of local resources. Building design re-
flects the chronological span of county development, building functions,
and levels of prosperity. Early settlement structures were sod (now
disappeared) and log in the rural areas, often replaced with wood
frame structures. Numerous log outbuildings still stand, as do many
houses sided with clapboard. The early river towns had access to
milled lumber from Minnesota's active forest indistry. Brick is often
seen, both in urban and rural residences and in the vast majority of
extant commercial buildings. A local buff colored brick is typical.
Locally quarried granite is quite common in foundations but was seldom
used as the major building material. Generally only the most monumental

buildings are built of granite. Building design ranges from simple log, -

frame, and brick structures to monumental masonry churches to ornate
residences in the major towns.

iption

Area Descr



STEARNS COUNTY

Stearns County's historical significance lies in its development
as a major agricultural and industrial county and in the settlement
history of its central places from the small hamlets to a major
regional center. The early importance of the Mississippi River as a
transportation corridor, the water-power sites developed along major
streams, and timber and mineral resources stimulated settlement in
the region. Agricultural potential and active Catholic colonization
efforts filled in the rural areas. The rail network that developed
after the 1870s led to new towns, farms, and industries. Located
between the pre-1850 settled area of southeastern Minnesota and post-
railroad settled northwest Minnesota, Stearns County shared the
pioneering trends of both areas. Rivers and railroads were important
as transportation routes. The tracks made towns possible but were
not the key to townsite establishment; a number pre-date the rails.
Natural resources included timber, water power, productive soil, and
minerals. The county diversity is reflected in its historic structures.

The most notable structure associated with rural, agricultural
settlement is the Anton Gogala Farmstead (1880-1965, Krain Township),
homestead in 1866 by a Slovenian immigrant. The Gogala family worked
for several years in Minneapolis before moving to Stearns County.

In the county, they looked at the Slovenian settled St. Stephen area
before homesteading two quarter-sections in Krain township. Anton
Gogala, Sr. donated land for the church and hamlet of St. Anthony.

The nominated farmstead of Anton Gogala, Jr., shows a complex of buildings

(many are log) and a scale of operation more typical of an early settle-
ment farmstead than a modern large-scale operation.

The role of ethnic, Catholic settlement is particularly notable
in the hamlet-centered churches scattered throughout the county.
The colonization efforts of Father Pierz were directed to Germans, and
they comprise the largest ethnic group. Seventeen hamlets are German
Catholic. The Church of St. Joseph (1869, St. Joseph) is the oldest
church structure in the county and one of the oldest parishes. Another
early German church and parish is the St. Mary Help of Christians
Church (1873, St. Augusta). Poles and Slovenians comprise minor
ethnic Catholic settlements as reflected in the Church of the Immaculate

Conception (1902, St. Anna) and the Church of St. Stephen (1903,

St. Stephen). Historic rectories are connected with several of the
churches. The Church of the Sacred Heart (1904, Arban, Holding
Township) shows a stage in church building -- the frame, rural Catholic
church, most often replaced with a masonry structure. These churches
are included in a group nomination : Ethnic Hamlet Churches: Stearns
County Catholic Settlement. Closely related nominations include

St. John's Abbey and University (1868-1913, Collegeville,placed on the
National Register in 1979) and St. Benedict's Convent and College

(1882-1925, St. Joseph). Both reflect the role of the Benedictines -

in Stearns County religious history.

Area Significance



STEARNS COUNTY - page 2

Urban settlement is seen in the Christopher Borgerding House
(1905, Belgrade) built by the founder of the town's first bank and
lumber yard. Bergerding settled in Belgrade shortly after the town
was platted in 1887 by W.D. Washburn, of the Soo Line railroad.

In 1890 Borgerding platted an addition to the original townsite. The
substantial residence reflects his business successes.

Political organization at the county and local levels led to the

establishment of the county townships, and village government. Political

activity on the local scale centered on town halls like the Kimball
Prairie Village Hall (1908, Kimball), which houses the town and
township halls and the local library. The St. Cloud Post Office/
City Hall (1902) was placed on the Register in 1976. County govern-
ment is focused on the Stearns County Courthouse and Jail (1921-22,
St. Cloud).

The public role in education, seen in the library in the village
hall, is of particular note in the St. Cloud Public Library (1902,
St. Cloud). Social/humanitarian impacts are seen in the Carnegie
grant to build the library and James J. Hill's donation for purchase
of a site. The political/government theme is evident as well in the
Veterans Administration Medical Center in St. Cloud, (federal nomination
in process).

Stearns County is rich in structures associated with industrial
development. The water-powered Fairhaven Flour Mill (1867, listed on
the National Register in 1978; property transferred to Wright County
for preservation purposes) shows the early use of the power resource
of county rivers. The steam-powered Swany White Flour Mill and the
associated Miller's House (1898, 1900, Freeport) show the shift
in power sources. Breweries were numerous in the German settled area
of Stearns County. The Cold Spring Brewing Company is the only brewery
still in operation. The houses of the three owners are standing
adjacent to the brewery: The John Oster House (1907), the Ferdinard
Peters House (1907) and the Eugene Hermanutz House (1912). Extensive

mineral resources led to the county's major industry - granite quarrying.

The Clark and McCormack Quarry (1907, Rockville) contines to operate.
It is one of Minnesota's major producers of architectural stone.
Across from the quarry is the granite house of one of the original
owners, the John Clark House (1924, Rockville). The Nehemiah P.
Clarke House (1893, St. Cloud) was built by a man who was both active
in the timber industry and in western Minnesota railroad development.
The increasing use of automobiles after 1900 led to Samuel Pandolfo's
attempt to make St. Cloud another Detroit. The Pan Motor Works Office
and Sheet Metal Works#(1919-1920, St. Cloud) are the best preserved

of the company's industrial buildings. The impact of the Pan Motor
Works carried over from the industrial site to an adjacent residential
development for Pan workers. The Pan Town Residential District (1917-
18, St. Cloud) is a four-and-a-half block area with fifty-eight houses,
primarily bungalows, built in 1918 along with Samuel Pandolfo's 1917
residence.

% Submitted as individual nominations December 1981

Area Significance
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The commercial history of Stearns County is represented by
several buildings along St. Cloud's Fifth Avenue. The First
National Bank (1889, St. Cloud) is the finest designed and best
preserved commercial building in the city. The bank, and the many
prominent citizens associated with it were prominent in St. Cloud's
business development. One block-face of well preserved buildings shows
commercial architecture spanning a thirty-year period. The Fifth
Avenue Commercial Buildings (1883-1914, St. Cloud) include two matching
1880s business blocks, a 1913 Elks Building, and three connected simple
brick commercial buildings dating from the late 1890s to 1914. The
Palmer House Hotel#* (1901, Sauk Centre) was the model for the
Minnemashie House in several Sinclair Lewis novels. The simple
salesmen's hotel is still in use. The importance of the author is
also reflected in the Sinclair Lewis Boyhood Home (1880s), listed
on the National Register and named a National Historic Landmark in
1968.

Area Significance

Several historically significant buildings in Stearns County have
additional architectural significance. Vernacular architectural forms
are seen in the Anton Gogala Farmstead (1880-1965) residence and
outbuildings, in the Miller's House (1900) in Freeport with its
basic rectangular plan and simple applied gingerbread eave ornament,
and in the local, buff-brick employees residence at St. Benedict's
Convent (c. 1890). Local stone was used in the John Clark House
(1924) in Rockville. Substantial and ornate builder designs are seen
in the Cold Spring Brewers' Houses (1907, 1914), and in the Colonial
Revival Christopher Borgerding House (1908) in Belgrade. Buildings
along Fifth Avenue in St. Cloud show locally significant examples of
architectural styles: the Neo-Colonial Revival St. Cloud Public
Library (1902) and Elks Building (1913) and the Italianate/Eastlake
McClure Searle Block (1883) and D.B. Searle Block (1886). The
Charles Sedgwick designed -Richardsonian Romanesque First National
Bank (1889) is the most architecturally significant commercial building
in St. Cloud. Local construction materials and Gothic Revival and
Romanesque architectural styles were used in the Ethnic Hamlet Churches:
Stearns County Catholic Settlement (1869-1903).

Several St. Cloud residences are significant primarily for their
architecture. The Richardsonian Romanesque Foley-Brower-Bohmer House
(1889) and the French Second Empire Michael Majerus House (1891)
were placed on the National Register in 1978. Both were built of
red brick with stone foundations and detailing, as are Samuel Haas'
Queen Anne style John N. Bensen House# (1904), built by a prominent
grocer, and the Romanesque style Nehemiah P. Clarke House (1893),
designed by Minneapolis architect Charles Sedgwick. The Clarke
House ranks with the Bohmer and Majerus Houses as one of city's finest
residences. Local architect Louis Pinault designed the Second
Renaissance Revival style Bishop's Residence/Chancery Office (1916).
The Pan Town Residential District (1917-1918) includes good bungalow
designs and is one of the finest groups of bungalow-style houses in
Minnesota.

St. Joseph has a distinctive commercial building - the terra cotta
and brick First State Bank (1918) with hints at the Egyptian Revival style,
rarely seen in Minnesota.

% Submitted as individual nominations December 1981
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11. Form Prepared By

name/titlte Thomas Harvey, Research Historian

organization Minnesota Historical Society date December 1980
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12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated significance of this pfoperty within the state is:

N/A ___ national state _ local — see individual inventory forms

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89—
665), | hereby nominate this property for inciusion in the Nationa) Register and certify tfat it has been evaluated

according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the Cyu creation Service.

/ ,
date /ML

State Historic Preservation Officer signature

Russell W. Fridley
title State Historic Preservation Officer

-

GPO 938 835



BIBLIOGRAPHY

Atwood and Company, Souvenir of St. Cloud, Minnesota, E.W. Atwood,
St. Cloud, 1892.

Bowles, Oliver. The Structural and Ornamental Stones of Minmnesota,
United States Geological Survey Bulletin 663, Government Printing
Office, Washington, 1918.

"A Brief Early History of Stearns County, 1853-1930." Stearns County

Historical Society, St. Cloud, /19762?/

Dominik, John J. Three Towns into One City: St. Cloud, Minnesota,
St. Cloud Area Bicentennial Commission, 1978.

Foote, Charles M. and Company, Plat Book of Stearns County, Minnesota,
Pinkney and Brown, Minneapolis, 1896.

Hartman, Ardis. "The First German Migration into Stearns County,"
Acta et Dicta, Vol. 7, p. 203-210, (1936).

Mitchell, William B. History of Stearns County, Minnesota. H.C. Cooper
& Co., Chicago. 1915.

McDonald, M. Grace. With Lamps Burning, Saint Benedict's Priory Press,
St. Joseph, Minnesota. 1957.

Miller, Joseph E. Fifth Avenue: A Path Through St. Cloud's History,
Stearns County Historical Society, St. Cloud. 1977.

Nelson, Eva. History of the St. Cloud Public Library, Friends of the
Library, St. Cloud. 1976.

"Pan Town on the Mississippi,'" Western Magazine, Vol. 11, No. 4 (1918).
St. Paul.

Pictorial Proof of Progress, Pan Motor Company, St. Cloud, Minnesota.
1918.

The St. Cloud Daily Times, Nov. 8, 1926, achievement edition, St. Cloud.
1926.

The St. Cloud Daily Times, centennial issue, June 30, 1956, Vol. 95,
No. 15.

Thiel, George A. and Carl E. Dutton. The Architectural, Structural,
and Monumental Stones of Minnesota, The University of Minnesota
Press, Minneapolis. 1935.




A o
i8 ST. FRANCIS
5 &sask
en € -
O st Resa O oPoLE
a ! .
4 1220 3 HoLD g Forp s
: O
. ST ANTHONY O ArBAN 57 Tepue)
ME 0
§11E neeeper N O ron
_ WELDEL
P W S <t AuA
sa O 4 (415
OPavua . 3 ALBanof <8 SAe
1900 érREE,uw,q e t572 ] (gosgt o
[
- A sLrosA | | 890
3 1708’ 0 ﬁ{’ggke N S .
' StTsEpy P T coup
BRocTER O sPRIVE 1855 1855
0 (%', f-hujg o FARM I N (— A
185 ST O Rosceg TG
BS
3 o e
BE ’ AUGUSTA
q o GkApE O LAE , (555 O
GE e RoLSEE O
ORGE VILLE ; %4 LUYE
- /‘?Og “ 1 JRo5¢0E- El(CS'Hs‘H‘fN D g UKEMBUR &
1887 1861
STEAERNS CouwmnTMd, HUNN. PAV“;@;%“—‘E o O mARTY
' oW S RA(L RO St NicHoL
7 g ADS - 4 ctioe As
(Plot Jades ove shown) EDEN UALLEN
KIMBALL FAIRBAVEN
— 2. PRARIE wikg 857
0 Jowangsifes — 1887
O Hamleb Ral Cnes Showon
j. 3+ Cloow‘, Monkato , ound Axshn 1 885-18§
2. Minneapolis and Pacific 1887
[F07-(909

3. Minneapols, St Pand, avd  Sawll Ste. Maiwe
4. St Al s Po.ci fre ( St Viicend Eviensien - 1872-(877

5- Lillle Falls amd Dakota  (88Z
6. Minneapolls ond Morthawes lean ~ (58182



NPS Form 10-900-a

781

“United States Department of the Inteﬂor
National Park Service

National Register of Hlstorlc Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

3

Continuation sheet ltem number Page , ,,L;
Multiple Resource Area'.. ' dnr-11
Thematie Group
Name Stearns County Multiple Resource Area
State MN
Nomination/Type of Review Date/Signature
1. Kimball Prairie Village Hall ~ Loterel T 70z ol boni Sy '
imbal airie Village Ha lva't:ie“i 1 healotag €ePer v %;%
Attest
o 2. Hermanutz, ‘Eugene, House (Cold Spring Keeper :!! “! 2 ?E é T4
: Brewers' Houses Thematic Res. )LJ/JU) 4.5 :
Bubstantive Hovlow 5400 o /é /) 27)%)//2 Z g2
+8. Peters, Ferdinand, House (Cold Spring Keeper delor L
Brewers' Houses Thematic Resourq’ég )5 3 - P W -7
..1.&% F
National Regm’toxaAtteSt
’ E‘Ql’@ 1‘31 T
- 4, Oster, John, House (Cold Spring,—“¥&i . ; Kee er L lrn— 5&, e ,
Brewers' Houses Thematic Reso&f@é@’)‘ﬁ Ba P « g///y
Attest
7.5, Gogala, Anton, Farmstead vy 7 o
Attest i IMCU e /
..g, Stearns County Courthouse and Jaﬁntered in Tha " “Keeper 2 . 2 //57
Yational Registew )
Attest
. Borgending, Christopher, House Hntered in i3
: v ’ National Ex@glmwKeepeI‘ e doear %«-«/ s%.w//
| - Attest
- j .8, St. Cloud Public Library 3
g, Swany White Flour Mill and
Miller's House -
Attest
-“10, Cla:ke, Nehemiah P., House Keeper )G&/M"/ 7% 7/4 /,;

Attest




a BME NO. 1024-0018
EXP. 12731784

NPS Form 10-800-a
(7-81)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service :

National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

Continuation sheet item number . Page X +.3

Multiple Resource Area
Thematie Group

Name Stearns County Multiple Resource Area
State MN

Nomination/Type of Review , ' Date/Signature

{

+'11, Clark and McCormack Quarry Keeper 4 ke 6I5.y

and House U _
et (Bl J00Ullusd s fie

.'12. Fifth Avenue Commerciai Building@ﬂ%ﬁrg Keeper ;x¢¢4;4~u/' g
neep M, ee/ s H

ﬁi’l‘tlf By
Attest
13, First State Bank Entereéi?;% Keeper
1 Gegl i s
Yatlonal Registen P b, W s
Attest

_ 2"14, ét. Benedict's Convent and

- K eeper - 7

College -
: Attest
. First National Bank TR <
15. g&egif‘s‘%e%eeper ﬁM" e 7%7""4/ ‘/// 7
Attest

16 Bishop's House-Chancery Offic&@nTared In Ry Keeper - M 2 y/,ﬁ

Naticnal Register

Attest
v~ 17, Pan Town Residential District%@iﬁ%ﬁﬁfﬁﬁé?ﬁé%f@%ieeper

Attest
i : ~
18, Church of the Sacred Heart (Ethnic 1n thS Keeper lelornr Aﬁngbc,,,ycqz

Hamlet Churches: Stearns Co. Entered ;
Catholic Settlement Them. Res pational Regis’cezttest

."19, Church of St.Joseph & Rectory (Ethnic Keeper
Hamlet Churches: Stearns Co. == e W
Catholic Settlement Them. Res RN

| Attest

\'ﬁ20, Church of the Immaculate Conception Kee
(Ethnic Hamlet Churches: Stea Lo per
stantive ﬁevigvgt

Catholic Settlement Them. Res.




NPS Form 10-900-a
7-81)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Hlstorlc Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

Continuation sheet ltem number ___Page 3 .)>

Multiple Resource Area
Thematic Group

Name Stearns County Multiple Resource Area
State - MN

Nomination/Type of Review | Date/Signature

21. gt, Mary Help of Christians Church & Keeper M %W sy

Rectory (Ethnic Hamlet Churches:Entored i, the
Stearns Co. Catholic Settlement Nationaj_ Regis %ttest

Them Res.)

22. Church of St. Stephen and Rectory (Ethnlc Keeper MM é%«/ y%.l;

Hamlet Churches: Stearns Co. Catholic

Settlement Them. Res.) WnTored Tn +ns Attest

oa. , | . Fational *LijhTKeeper
Attest

24, Keeper
Attest

25. Keeper
Attest

?6. Keeper

| Attest

27. Keeper

| Attest

28. " Keeper
Attest

- 29, | ‘ Keeper
| | Attest

30_. V Keeper

Attest




